










same four offenses charged in the earlier complaint: (i) Entering and Remaining in a Restricted 

Building, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(1); (ii) Disorderly and Disruptive Conduct in a 

Restricted Building, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(2); (iii) Violent Entry and Disorderly 

Conduct in a Capitol Building, in violation of 40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)(2)(D); and (iv) Parading, 

Demonstrating, or Picketing in a Capitol Building, in violation of 40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)(2)(G).  

See ECF No. 6. (The government charged Ms. Morgan-Lloyd in a separate information.  See 

United States v. Anna Morgan-Lloyd, Crim. No. 21-cr-00164 (RCL), ECF No. 5.) 

On July 19, 2021, this Court reviewed and accepted Ms. Bissey’s guilty plea to count 

four of the information.  See ECF Nos. 20-22.  At the sentencing hearing on October 12, 2021, 

pursuant to the parties’ written plea agreement, they will jointly recommend a sentence of 

probation, 40 hours of community service, and restitution in the amount of $500 payable to the 

Department of Treasury.  ECF No. 21 at 2.   

ARGUMENT 

 Ms. Bissey is a well-respected and productive member of her community with no 

substantive criminal history.  She serves as the primary caretaker of her disabled husband and 

suffers from her own ailments, which make her especially vulnerable to suffering grave illness 

should she contract COVID-19 in an institutional setting.  Her conduct on January 6, while 

admittedly unlawful, was neither aggressive nor malicious.  A probationary term is sufficient, but 

not greater than necessary, to satisfy the purposes of sentencing.  It would also stave off an 

unwarranted sentencing disparity between Ms. Bissey and her previous co-defendant, Ms. 

Morgan-Lloyd, who also received a probationary term.  Finally, Ms. Bissey submits that the 

government, in its joint request for a probationary disposition, agrees that incarceration would be 

a “greater than necessary” punishment to reflect the seriousness of her offense, promote respect 
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for the law, provide just punishment, afford adequate deterrence, and ensure that Ms. Bissey not 

commit future crimes.  Ms. Bissey joins the government in that sentiment.    

I. Nature and Circumstances of Ms. Bissey’s Conduct on January 6 

Ms. Bissey did not set out from her small town in Indiana with an intent to subvert 

democracy.  Instead, Ms. Bissey came to Washington, D.C. upon the urging of the President, 

eager to support him and be with like-minded individuals who believed the 2020 election had 

been corrupted.  Though this belief has since been debunked, Ms. Bissey was convinced on 

January 6 that the claims of election meddling were true.  When Ms. Bissey came upon the 

Ellipse on January 6, she planned to show her displeasure at the election results and hear the 

President speak to his supporters.  It was not until President Trump’s son raised the idea of 

marching to the U.S. Capitol that Ms. Bissey even considered going to the seat of Congress.  

Candidly, Ms. Bissey did not even know where the U.S. Capitol was in relation to the Ellipse.  

However, as President Trump wrapped up his inciting calls to action, Ms. Bissey and her friend 

joined the growing crowd moving down Pennsylvania Avenue.     

By the time Ms. Bissey arrived at the U.S. Capitol around 2:00 p.m., many of the barriers 

that had been erected along the perimeter of the building were no longer present.  Ms. Bissey and 

her friend met no resistance in their continuous march toward and inside the Capitol.  At the 

time, Ms. Bissey did not see any Capitol police officers present, though she later learned that the 

officers had retreated inside upon being overwhelmed by the first wave of protestors.   

When the doors to the Senate were breached around 2:45 p.m., Ms. Bissey, Ms. Morgan-

Lloyd, and a woman who identified herself as “Linda” made the unfortunate and regretful 

decision to go inside.  Upon entry, they were immediately subsumed into the large crowd of 

protestors who had gathered inside.  They made their way to a nearby hallway to carve out some 
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John worked at Indiana University as a cook, and Mabel, a cook herself, worked the 

overnight shift at a local truck stop.  Ms. Bissey remembered being sheltered and showered with 

love by the pair.  Growing up, she worked hard in school and earned average grades.  Always 

sociable, Ms. Bissey participated in band and played tennis, volleyball, and softball.  When she 

graduated high school, she took advantage of her father’s ties to Indiana University and studied 

to be a nurse.  However, after a bad run with the required chemistry courses, Ms. Bissey left 

college to pursue work as a cook.   

In 1990, Ms. Bissey married her first husband, Mark Westlake.  For a short time, the pair 

was happy, but after Mr. Westlake began physically abusing her, Ms. Bissey divorced him in 

1992.  In 1996, Ms. Bissey’s beloved father, John, died.  Wishing to be helpful to her grief-

stricken mother, she temporarily moved in with her.  In 2000, after earning her cosmetology 

license, she again left home.  In 2007, Ms. Bissey met and married her current husband, Mr. 

Bissey, when he stopped into her salon for a haircut.  After fourteen years of marriage, the pair 

remain in love and devoted to one another.  

However, in 2014, Ms. Bissey and her husband were involved in a traumatic motorcycle 

accident.  The pair were riding South down a two-lane highway in Indiana when an 

inexperienced teen driver attempted to pull into the north-bound lane in front of them.  At the last 

minute, the teenager spotted an oncoming car in the north lane and halted his vehicle, causing 

Mr. Bissey, who was driving the motorcycle, to slam into the car.  Upon impact, Mr. Bissey 

became pinned between the motorcycle and the car.  Ms. Bissey was thrown from the back of the 

motorcycle over the top of the car.  Afterwards, she recalled being catapulted into the air and 

trying to land in a way that minimized damage to her head and spine, tucking herself into a ball 

and landing in the middle of the highway.  When she picked herself up, she could hear her 
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husband screaming.  Mr. Bissey was flown by helicopter to an Indianapolis hospital for 

treatment.  

The accident shattered Mr. Bissey’s pelvis, requiring him to undergo complete pelvis 

reconstruction.  He was in and out of a wheelchair for a year and a half.  Today, he is 

permanently disabled and suffers chronic pain. The accident also permanently damaged Ms. 

Bissey’s left leg, which broke her fall after she was thrown from the motorcycle. (In the seconds 

before she was thrown, a foot peg broke off the motorcycle and embedded itself into Ms. 

Bissey’s left ankle.)  Compounding her pain and slowing her recovery, Ms. Bissey also suffered 

from cirrhosis of the liver caused by autoimmune hepatitis.  To treat her condition, Ms. Bissey 

had been on steroids for over a year, which left her unable to tolerate pain medication and left 

her skin too fragile to withstand sutures.  As a result, she had to allow her wounds to close in the 

“open air,” a process that took five months.  To this day, she experiences chronic leg pain from 

the nerve damage and scar tissue.   

The accident also caused significant damaged to the Bisseys’ financial well-being.  With 

Mr. Bissey unable to work, Ms. Bissey became the breadwinner.  She started her own hair salon 

and, owing to her gregarious and warm nature, had accumulated a steady stream of customers.  

However, as happened with many small business, the COVID-19 pandemic hit her salon hard as 

customers sheltered at home.  To cope with the idle time and to distract herself from financial 

worries, Ms. Bissey found comfort in a steady diet of cable news and Facebook-scrolling.  The 

combination of messages plastered on cable TV and on social media inspired Ms. Bissey to heed 

the President’s call to come to Washington, D.C. on January 6.   

But Ms. Bissey does not define herself by her political beliefs or by her misinformed 

actions on a single day.  She views herself as a devoted wife to Mr. Bissey and a devoted step-
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sentence, and along with a host of other 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) factors, determine that incarceration 

with all its ramifications during a deadly pandemic, is a sentence that would be greater than 

necessary to serve the purposes of sentencing.       

b. Ms. Bissey’s Husband is Completely Dependent on Her for Care. 

Following Mr. Bissey’s motorcycle accident, he is completely disabled and unable to 

work.  He has a limp, suffers from chronic pain, and experiences days that he simply cannot get 

out of bed.  Ms. Bissey dutifully cares for him, the household, and the couple’s finances.  It is her 

income that pays for the mortgage, groceries, and utilities.  If she were incarcerated and unable 

to work, the pair would not survive financially.  As a result, Mr. Bissey—who did not participate 

in the protests on January 6—would lose his daily caretaker, and potentially, his home.   

Making Ms. Bissey’s presence even more indispensable, in late August 2021, Mr. Bissey 

suffered a series of mini-strokes.  Ms. Bissey rushed him to the hospital; but, due to over-

capacitation because of COVID-19, he could not be admitted.  He and Ms. Bissey were forced to 

return home and seek the help of a neurologist on an out-patient basis.  Because of this, the cause 

of Mr. Bissey’s mini-strokes, as well as any therapy or medication to prevent further ones, has 

not yet been determined.  In the wake of this additional medical scare, Mr. Bissey needs his wife 

to care for him at home more than ever.     

c. Ms. Bissey Suffered Public Humiliation and Economic Loss as a Result of Her 
Actions on January 6  

 
A sentence of probation with community service and restitution is both just and fair 

considering the collateral consequences Ms. Bissey has faced because of her participation in 

January 6.  Since her arrest in February, Ms. Bissey has been chastised on the street and her 

business shunned.  She had to move her salon following huge losses from a drop in clientele and 

because the pandemic made rental space unaffordable.  Though Ms. Bissey is normally a 
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defendants were vastly different than Ms. Bissey.  In United States v. Derek Jancart and Erik 

Rau, 21-cr-00467, the Honorable Boasburg sentenced both defendants to 45 days of 

incarceration.  However, in that case, unlike Ms. Bissey’s, the prosecutors asked for four (4) 

months of incarceration for each defendant, citing that the men came to D.C. with gloves, a gas 

mask, and two-way radios.  Id.  Additionally, Mr. Jancart posted a video on Facebook during 

January 6, where he is heard laughing at police while Mr. Rau screamed, “We have you 

surrounded!”  Additionally, Mr. Rau, unlike Ms. Bissey, was on probation at the time of his 

offense on January 6 for domestic violence.   

Additionally, this Court recently sentenced another January 6 defendant to 45 days of 

incarceration in United States v. Matthew Mazzocco, 21-cr-00054 (TSC), ECF No. __ (October 

4, 2021).  However, Mr. Mazzocco blamed the violence that day on Antifa, deleted his social 

media accounts in an effort to obscure his actions, and refused to give law enforcement access to 

the body-worn camera he wore that day, claiming that he did not know where it was.  Ms. Bissey 

was far more cooperative with law enforcement, did not attempt to hide any evidence against 

her, and has not publicly blamed another group for the violence that day.  Additionally, the 

government in Ms. Bissey’s case, unlike in Mr. Mazzocco’s, is jointly requesting a sentence of 

probation.   

All told, the facts of the offense conduct and characteristics of the defendants who 

garnered incarceration were starkly different than Ms. Bissey’s conduct and characteristics.  As 

suggested by the government in its sentencing memorandum, Ms. Bissey’s actions fall on the 

low-end of the spectrum that day and encompass “those who trespassed, but did not engage in 

aggravating factors, [] merit[ing] the imposition of a significant term of probation along with 
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 EXHIBIT A 
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 EXHIBIT B 
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